ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE EDUCATI ON STANDI NG COWMM TTEE
February 6, 2013
7:59 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Gary Stevens, Chair
Senator M ke Dunl eavy, Vice Chair
Senator Bert Stedman

Senat or Charlie Huggins

Senat or Berta Gardner

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 40

"An Act making special appropriations for new engineering
buildings for the University of Alaska in Anchorage and
Fai rbanks; and providing for an effective date."

- HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 40

SHORT TI TLE: APPROP: UNIV. ENG NEERI NG BUI LDI NGS
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) ELLIS

01/ 28/ 13 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 28/ 13 (S) EDC, FIN
02/ 06/ 13 (S) EDC AT 8: 00 AM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR JOHNNY ELLI S
Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 40.

THOVAS CASE, Chancel |l or

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -1- February 6, 2013



BRI AN ROGERS, Chancel |l or

Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

DOUG GCERI NG, Dean

Col | ege of Engi neering and M nes

Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

ORSON SM TH, Interi m Dean

School of Engi neering

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Sewar d, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

PETER STCKES, Chair

College of Engineering and Mnes Advocacy and Devel opnent
Counci

Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

STEVE M LLER, Menber

Ameri can Society of G vil Engineers-Matsu
Wasi |l a, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

GRANT BAKER, Retired Professor of Engineering
Anchor age, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

DALE NELSON, Chair

Legi sl ative Liaison Commttee

Al aska Professional Design Council (APDC)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

KIT DUKE, Associate Vice President for Facilities and Land
Managenent

Uni versity of Al aska

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: O fered to answer questions related to SB
40.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 2- February 6, 2013



ROBERT BALDW N, Managi ng Principle

Al aska Sci ence and Technol ogy Consul tants
Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

BOB PAWL.OASKI, Menmber

Col |l ege of Engineering and M nes Advisory Developnment Counci
Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

BRUCE DAVI DSON, representing hinself
Anchor age, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

SHAWN FLORI O, Menber

Al aska Prof essional Design Counci

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

BRI AN CLEMENTS, El ectrical Engi neer

CH2M Hi || Prof essi onal Engi neering

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

TOM G LL, Engineering Student

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

VI RA NI A GCRCESCHEL, G aduate

School of Engi neering

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

FRANK RAST, ACC Li ai son

Ameri can Council of Engi neering Conpanies - Al aska,
Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 40.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
7:59: 24 AM

CHAIR GARY STEVENS <called the Senate Education Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 7:59 a.m Present at the call to

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 3- February 6, 2013



order were Senators Dunleavy, Stedman, Huggins, Gardner and
Chair Stevens.

SB 40- APPROP:  UNI V. ENG NEERI NG BUI LDI NGS

7:59: 54 AM
CHAI R STEVENS announced the consideration of [SB 40].

SENATOR JOHNNY ELLI'S, sponsor, introduced SB 40. He related that
Al aska faces a severe shortage of engineers. In recent years
this problem has been conmpounded by the graying of the work
force. The engineering industry and the resource devel opnent
i ndustry have comrented on the enornous expense and hassle of
recruiting and retaining engineers from outside of Al aska.
Al aska industry prefers Al askan engi neers.

He reported that over the years existing engineering facilities
at the University of Al aska-Anchorage (UAA) and the University
of Al aska- Fai rbanks (UAF) have becone woefully inadequate. They
are cranped and out of date and |ack the special-purpose |ab
space required for nodern engineering. He voiced concern that
accreditation may be lost if these challenges are not addressed.
He stated that last year, due to the work of the |egislature
partial funding was secured for the construction of these nuch-
needed facilities. He said it was time to finish what was
start ed.

He said the effort to invest in Al aska-grown engineers enjoyed
enthusiastic support from a broad coalition of Alaska's
engi neering professional organizations and businesses. |Industry
advi sory boards for both universities have urged the |egislature
to address growing enrollnment and inadequate facilities. It is
the regents' nunber one new construction priority for academc
prograns. They maintain that there is adequate demand by
industry and by individuals for engineering prograns at both
canpuses.

He opined that Alaska is a decade behind providing Al aska-
trai ned engineers to Al aska resource industries.

8:04: 09 AM
SENATOR GARDNER agreed that it is an inportant bill. She
addressed course availability for engineering students.

SENATOR ELLIS deferred to other testifiers to answer. He said

t he biggest conplaint heard from students and parents is about
i nadequate facilities.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 4- February 6, 2013



CHAI R STEVENS asked what an engineering student needs, other
than a drafting table. He requested nore information regarding
| abs.

SENATOR ELLIS wunderstood that specialized facilities are now
required in engi neering prograns.

8:06: 29 AM

THOVAS CASE, Chancellor, University of Al aska-Anchorage, agreed
with Senator Ellis's coments. He said there is no higher
priority for the university, aside from deferred maintenance, in
the Board of Regents' budget. He stressed how inportant the
engineering field is in Al aska.

He noted that one of the difficulties in the engineering program
is the problem of scheduling courses in sequence, due to |ack of
| ab space. Much of the engineering curriculum involves
technol ogy and appropriate |labs. He said that he and Chancell or
Rogers have advocated for tw years for the conpletion of the
new engi neering facilities.

8:09:12 AM
CHAI R STEVENS asked about the nunber of faculty and students
currently invol ved in engineering classes.

CHANCELLOR CASE responded that there were 806 engineering
students in 2007 and 1,137 students in 2012, a 41 percent
i ncrease.

CHAIR STEVENS asked how nmany faculty are assigned to the
engi neeri ng departnents.

CHANCELLOR CASE answered that there are 38.5 full-tine
equi val ent (FTE) teaching and instruction-based research faculty
at UAA, and 43.5 at UAF

SENATOR GARDNER suggested the 41 percent increase in enrollnment
over a five-year period was dramatic. She inquired as to the
cause of that junp in enrollnment and wondered if efforts to
engage students in the science, technology, engineering, and
mat hematics (STEM fields played a role.

CHANCELLOR CASE agreed wth the need to expand STEM education

efforts K - 12 and beyond. The need for additional engineers is
al so drive by occupational needs for engineers in the Arctic.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 5- February 6, 2013



8:11: 35 AM

BRI AN  ROGERS, Chancel | or, University of Al aska- Fairbanks,
testified in support of SB 40. He <called it a positive,
cooperative effort between UAA and UAF. He voiced appreciation
for last year's support of the project. The noney was used right
away to award phase one contracts to begin wutilities and
gr oundbr eaki ng. Appropriation this year wuld allow for
continuation of work. The work was allocated to an Anchorage-
based contractor to build the Fairbanks facility, but Fairbanks
subcontractors were al so used.

CHANCELLOR ROCGERS referred to the 41 percent increase in
students and added that, in the fall of 2012, those 1,137
students wer e formally enroll ed in t he under gr aduat e
baccal aureate program He noted there are currently over 1,600
students enrolled in spring senester taking at |east one
engi neering course at either the wundergraduate or graduate
| evel. They are on track to reach a goal set in 2006 of doubling
t he nunber of engineering graduates. He voiced appreciation for
| egi sl ative support for operating costs to increase faculty and
to unbl ock course sequences so students can graduate in a tinely
fashi on.

He enphasi zed the need for specialized |aboratories for specific
engi neering courses and efforts to avoid unnecessary duplication
bet ween the two prograns.

8:15: 08 AM
CHAI R STEVENS asked Chancell or Rogers how nmany years he has been
with the university.

CHANCELLOR ROGERS said he enrolled as a student in 1970.

SENATOR STEDMAN spoke in support of the need for new engi neering
buildings. He noted caution about the difficulty of future
funding and the possibility of the university being a reduction
target due to the fact that it is third in line for operating
funds behind health and human services and education. He hoped
the university would give serious thought as to how facilities
woul d be managed in the future.

8:17:59 AM

CHANCELLOR ROCERS agreed with Senator Stedman's view of |ong-
term challenges. He said one of the reasons the engineering
buil dings are so inportant is that engineering talent will be a
part of the solution to Alaska's diversified econony. He noted
that the wuniversity has been working to reduce the energy

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 6- February 6, 2013



footprint of its facilities in order to cut costs. He said he
sees FY 14 and FY 15 as critical years with a declining state
budget acconpanied by a federal decline. The wuniversity is
working very hard to hold the Iine on tuition and nanage wthin
constraints. He said he understands what Senator Stedman is
sayi ng.

SENATOR DUNLEAVY requested information on the nunber of freshnen
who choose engineering at each canpus and what areas they are
focusing on. He also wanted to know the nunber of engineering
gr aduat es.

8:20: 09 AM

CHANCELLOR ROGERS said he could provide that information. He
noted that many students don't officially enter a degree program
until the second year of college. He offered to provide the
nunmber of students in pre-engineering and engineering prograns
and the nunber of graduates in each of the prograns.

SENATOR DUNLEAVY requested information from previous years,
al so.

8:21: 06 AM

DOUG GOERI NG, Ph.D., Dean, College of Engineering and M nes,
University of Al aska-Fairbanks, related that enrollnent in
engi neering progranms at UAF has accel erated over the past seven
years to the point of doubling to about 1,000 students. He
provi ded data about which areas student were going into. The
fastest growing area is petroleum engineering, which has nore
than tripled since the early 2000's. The second nobst attractive
field is mechanical engineering, which has doubled. Electrica
and conputer engineering have remained relatively flat. The
civil engineering program has grown nodestly.

He addressed graduation rates which have increased substantially
over the past few years. Last spring 90 undergraduate engineers
graduated. |Including graduate degrees and conputer scientists,
roughly 150 graduated fromthe Coll ege of Engineering and M nes.

He recalled that the need for new engineering facilities was
vetted back in 2010 - 2011 with an educational consultant. The
anal ysis was based on enrollnent data fromthe fall of 2010.

He summarized that the university is making great progress on

facilities planning on the UAF canpus. He spoke highly of the
design team and t he excel |l ence of the potential |abs.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -7- February 6, 2013



8:26: 34 AM

DR. GOERI NG addressed the need to integrate the facilities into
the canpuses. He said there is also funding in the budget to
renovat e exi sting structures.

CHAIR STEVENS asked if the <college does any student career
tracking and if there is any data about how many stay and work
in Al aska.

DR. GOERING replied that the follow up is related to
accreditation activities. He did not have exact data, but
believed that around 75 percent of graduates end up in Al aska.
He added that placenent rates are very high. Several students
have gone on to national organizations beyond Al aska.

8:29:43 AM

SENATOR GARDNER asked if UAF is drawing engineering students
from outside of Alaska. She wondered if new facilities m ght
have an inpact on attracting those students.

DR. GOERING said it was an interesting question. He thought that
was already occurring in petroleum engineering. He also thought
new facilities would have a positive effect on attracting new
st udent s.

8:31:46 AM
SENATOR HUGGE NS asked about internal adjustnments in order to
make roomfor a "rising tide of demand."

DR. GCERI NG responded that the university has nmade sone facility
adj ustnents to nake room for engineering classroons and |abs. He
noted that there has been a shift in enrollnent from science to
engi neeri ng.

8:35:10 AM

ORSON SM TH, Interim Dean, School of Engineering, University of
Al aska- Anchorage, described how the enrollnment in the School of
Engi neering has increased by 450 percent to nearly 1,200
students since he began to teach in 1998. He said that 90
percent of those students are Al askans.

He pointed out that engineering facilities at UAA are |ess than
one-third of the average specialized space other state
uni versities provide for engineering education. He said he is
| ooking forward to the new facilities. Conputer programng is
the |l argest program followed by civil engineering.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 8- February 6, 2013



DR SMTH said that engineering students have nany intern
opportunities and alnost all of them are enployed upon
graduation. Mdst of themremain in the Anchorage area.

He stated that an investnent now in engineering education wll
benefit Al aska for many years to cone.

8:39: 01 AM
CHAIR STEVENS asked for nore information about high school
engi neeri ng academ es.

DR SMTH replied that the Anchorage School District follows a
national curriculum called "Project Lead the Way," which
i nvol ves robotics and conputer programm ng.

SENATOR GARDNER asked about enroll nent statistics and trends

DR SMTH answered that there are currently 1,200 students
commtted to engineering degree prograns. He said that in 2000
there were 293 students in the program in 2012 there were 1,190
students. He did not see that trend decreasing because of the
inspirational prograns in secondary schools.

8:42: 33 AM
PETER STOKES, Chair, College of Engineering and M nes Advocacy
and Devel opnent Counci |, University  of Al aska- Fai r banks,

explained that he is a petroleum engineer with Petrotechnica
Resources Alaska (PRA). He related that he graduated from UAF

and has worked in oil and gas for 25 years in Al aska and
el sewhere. He noted he was speaking on behalf of the Devel opnent
Council, which provides guidance to UAF on strategic issues

related to engi neering.

He thanked the commttee for recognizing the need to expand
facilities at both canpuses. He said new facilities are
necessary to neet the demands of the current and future
engineering needs in the state. He suggested that both
uni versity canpuses have conplinentary facilities.

8:47:09 AM

He believed that state funding to increase the capacity of the
engi neering prograns is a great investnent in the future of
engi neering in Al aska. Alaska engineering firns would prefer to
hire Al askans. He pointed out that he is speaking on behalf of
his two grandsons and the future of engineering.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 9- February 6, 2013



CHAI R STEVENS said the Red Dog M ne used to enpl oyee 100 percent
from the local Native Corporation and today they are unable to
do so. He asked if M. Stokes saw a return to local hire as a
possibility in the future.

MR. STOKES said there are many initiatives that are directed
toward the education of Native students, such as ANSEP and
engineering academes. He reiterated the difficulty of the
academ cs in engineering prograns.

8:50: 05 AM

SENATOR DUNLEAVY requested a list of all projects the university
is requesting funding for from the |legislature. He cautioned
that the university mght not receive funding for everything on
the list.

CHAI R STEVENS requested his staff |ook up that information.

8:52:17 AM
SENATOR STEDVAN suggested the information is listed in the Red
Book.

SENATOR HUGE NS shared a personal story. He talked about
internships. He addressed the petroleum decline challenge and
t he benefits of having nore avail abl e engi neers.

CHAI R STEVENS t hanked M. Stokes.

8: 54: 54 AM

STEVE M LLER, Anerican Society of CGvil Engi neer s- Mat su,
provi ded supportive testinony for SB 40. He noted he was a part-
time enployee for BP. He shared his personal work history. He
said a good engineering program attracts talent to Al aska. There
are many projects that will require engineers to conplete those
proj ects.

8:58:31 AM
SENATOR HUGGE NS commrented on M. Ml ler's background and thanked
himfor his efforts.

9: 00: 06 AM

GRANT  BAKER, retired UAA and UAF engineering professor
testified in favor of SB 40. He said that 10 years ago there was
a shortage of engineers in Alaska and conpanies had to go
el sewhere for hire. About four years ago high schools in
Fai rbanks and Anchorage started engi neering academ es. Each of
those prograns has about 150 students now Last fall, Eagle

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -10- February 6, 2013



Ri ver Hi gh School started an engineering program and has over
100 students. In a very short time there will be hundreds of
nmore university students enrolled in engineering prograns. He
requested funding for the engineering facilities.

CHAI R STEVENS asked M. Baker where he |ives.
MR. BAKER said he lives in Anchorage.

CHAIR STEVENS inquired if he is involved in the engineering
acadeny in Anchorage.

MR. BAKER said he is involved in Project Lead the \Way.

SENATOR GARDNER asked what percentage of students in high schoo
engi neering cl asses, choose engineering as a career.

MR. BAKER replied that there is no data regarding that because
the programis so new. He noted that two years ago when students
graduated from the D nond H gh School program there was an
| arge increase in the engineering program at UAA

9: 03: 55 AM
DALE NELSON, Chair, Legislative Liaison Commttee, Al aska
Pr of essi onal Desi gn Counci | (APDC) , provi ded supportive

testinmony from the viewpoint of a practicing civil engineer. He
thanked Senator Ellis for his wrk for the engineering
prof ession. He stressed the inportance of hiring locally trained
engi neers and of pronmoting research. He testified in support of
SB 40.

9:07: 02 AM
CHAI R STEVENS thanked M. Nelson for his continued involvenent
wi th engineering in Al aska.

KIT DUKE, Associate Vice President for Facilities and Land
Managenent, University of Al aska, offered to answer questions.

9:08: 54 AM

ROBERT  BALDW N, Managi ng  Princi pal, Al aska Science and
Technol ogy Consultants, said he was representing the Institute
of Electrical and Electronics Engi neers. He stressed the
i nportance of having direct access for new students considering
engi neering degrees. Lack of adequate classroons and |ab space
robs that opportunity and threatens accreditation and capped
enrol Il ments. He related the econom c benefits of SB 40.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -11- February 6, 2013



9:11: 34 AM

BOB PAW.OWSKI, Menber, College of Engineering and M nes Advisory
Devel opnent Council, University of Al aska-Fairbanks, provided
supportive testinmony for SB 40. He provided a personal exanple
how engi neering prograns are key in grow ng Al aska busi nesses.

9:14: 17 AM

BRUCE DAVI DSON, representing hinself, testified in support of SB
40. He spoke in support of having excellent facilities for
engi neering prograns.

9:17: 00 AM

SHAWN FLORI O Menber, Al aska Professional Design Counci l
provi ded supportive testinony for SB 40. He related that HDR
the firm he works for, could have hired 30 nore engineers |ast
year and prefers to hire Alaska graduates. He stressed the need
for nore Al aska engi neers.

9:18:47 AM

BRI AN CLEMENTS, Electrical Engineer, CH2M Hill Professiona
Engi neeri ng, provided supportive testinony for SB 40. He said it
is difficult to find enough engineers to get the work done in
his conpany. He enphasized that state-of-the-art facilities are
inmportant in attracting engineers to Al aska.

9:20: 49 AM

TOM G LL, Engineering Student, University of Al aska-Anchorage,
provi ded supportive testinmony for SB 40. He said as a senior
civil engineering student, he can attest that the School of
Engi neering has outgrown the current space and the |abs need to
be nodernized. He stated that SB 40 is an investnent in the
future.

9:23:22 AM

VI RG NI A GROESCHEL, graduate, School of Engineering, University
of Al aska- Anchorage, said she is also the section president for
the American Society of Civil Engineers in Al aska and works for
DOAL HKM She provided supportive testinony for SB 40. She said
over 60 percent of engineer graduates remain in Anchorage. She
recall ed the inadequacy of the labs in the engineering program
She wi shed to see better opportunities for future students.

9: 25: 57 AM

FRANK RAST, AGC Liaison, Anerican Counci l of Engi neeri ng
Conpani es - Al aska, provided supportive testinony for SB 40. He
said nine of the last ten hires have been UAA or UAF graduates.
He maintained that the demand for engineers has exceeded the

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -12- February 6, 2013



supply, and it is expensive to recruit in the Lower 48. He
stressed the inportance of research in the engineering field and
the need for new facilities.

9:28: 05 AM
SENATOR GARDNER asked about out-of-state fermale engineering
st udent s.

MR RAST answered that the last two hires were fenal e.

9: 29: 07 AM
CHAI R STEVENS stated he would hold SB 40 in commttee.

9:29: 25 AM

There being no further business to cone before the Senate
Education Standing Conmttee, Chair Stevens adjourned the
nmeeting at 9:29 a.m

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -13- February 6, 2013



